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of the high school. The choice was between two teachers who
had equal seniority and qualifications, but were of different
races. The Board laid off Ms. Taxman who was White, and
retained Ms. Williams, the flrst and only Black teacher in the
all White department. Ms. Taxman complained to the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), which re-
ferred the matter to the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil
Rights Division. The Department of Justice sued the Board of
Education under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Ms.
Taxman intervened. Ms. Williams, the Black teacher, did not
intervene, nor was she represented by counsel.l

The facts were established by a stipulation between the De-
partment and the Board. The stipulation was misleading on
two crucial issues. It asserted:

. The proportion of Black teachers in the school district
fairly reflected the labor market; therefore there was no
basis for affirmative action concerning employment.2

L. .lee United States v. Board of Educ. of Township of Piscataway, 832
F. Supp. 836 (D.N.J. 1993), affd in banc sub nom. Thxman v. Board of Educ.
of Township of Piscataway, 91 F.3d 1,547 (3d Cir. 1995), cert. granted, 117
S.Ct. 2506 (1997), cert. dismissed, 118 S.Ct. 595 (1997). Oral argument was
scheduled for January, 1998. After the record and briefs had been filed, the
case was settled with a major monetary contribution from civil rights organi-
zations who were concerned that the Supreme Court might address the "di-
versity" justification for affirmative action programs. The settlement was
made public on November 27,1997. See Affirmative Action Settlement, N.Y .

Trues, Nov. 22, 1997, atB4.
The reality of their concern is suggested by the efforts to draft hypotheti-

cal opinions for the Supreme Court based on the record. See Ann C. Mc-
Ginley & Michael J. Yelnosky, Board of Education v. Taxman'. The
Unpublished Opinions,4 Rocsn Wrr-r-ravs UNrv. L. Rrv. 205-92 (1998)

fhereinafter McGinleyl.
While the case was pending before the Court of Appeals, the Department

of Justice sought leave to file a brief opposing Ms. Thxman's claim. That
motion was denied. The Third Circuit treated the oral argument on that
motion as a motion to withdraw which it granted on November 17 ,1995. See
United States v. Board of Educ., Nos. 94-5090, 94-5112,1995 WL 704036 (3d
Cir. Nov. 1'1 ,1995). Thereafter, the case was argued in the Third Circuit and
briefed before the Supreme Court by Ms. Taxman. The change of policy by
the Department of Justice is discussed in infra note 12.

2. The position of the Department and the Board is reflected in the
stipulations of fact before the District Court, entered into on May 7, f993.
See Joint Appendix at 1,36a [hereinafter JA] (All references to the Joint Ap-
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. The Board retained the Black leacher in order to main-
tain "diversity" in the high school faculty, not to correct
any prior hiring practices.3

Both the District Court and the Third Circuit (sitting en
banc) relied on the stipulation as the factual foundation for
holding that "diversity" did not justify an employer in using
race to decide which employee to retain in a layoff.a Certio-
rari was granted on petition by the Board. After the record
and briefs had been filed, the case was settled with a major
monetary contribution from civil rights organizations who
were concerned that the Supreme Court might address the "di-
versity" justification for affirmative action programs.s

The record submitted to the Supreme Court after certiorari
was granted does not support the key elements in the stipula-
tion. Rather, it establishes these contrary facts:

o The conclusion that the employment of Black teachers
fairiy reflected the labor market was based on a compari-
son with the largely White labor market to the south that
ignored an equally close but better integrated labor mar-
ket to the north. When that labor market is inciuded, the
Board's employment of minority teachers appears so

pendix (JA) were liled in the Supreme Court after Certiorari had been
granted).

"Defendant [Board] did not adopt its Affirmative Action/Employ-
ment Policy in 1983 for the purpose of remedying any prior discrim-
ination by Defendant, or for any remedial purpose." JA 61a. "The
Calculation of Underutilization table contained in the 1985 Em-
ployment Practices Addendum . . . shows that for blacks, the Piscat-
away School District workforce exceeds Middlesex County labor
market availability and concludes that there is no underutilization
of blacks in Defendant's teacher workforce." JA 63a. "Defendant
did not establish any goal with respect to the hiring of black teach-
ers as part of its 1985 Employment Practices Addendum because its
statistical analysis . . . showed that there was no underutilization of
blacks in Defendant's teacher workforce." 1d.; see also JA 60a-
63a, Stipulations 52, 53, 56-58, 63-65, and 69-71.
3. "The Board accepted the Superintendent's recommendation not to

remedy past discrimination in its employment relations, but to promote the
educational benefits flowing from racial diversity in an otherwise all-whitc
department." JA 138a(g); see also JA67a, Stipulations 88,89, and 90. Ms.
Thxman was not a party to the Stipulations.

4. See ^[axman, 91 F.3d at 1550-51.
5. See supra note 2.
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sma! that it justifies afflrmative action under existing
law.o

r The Board retained the Black teacher in order to further
equal employment opportunity, not to assure diversity.T

These discrepancies between the facts in the record and the
stipulation suggest that the Justice Department and the Board
chose to litigate a largely hypothetical question concerning the
"divefsity" justification for aff,rmative action rather than test
the validity of the Board's action under well established princi-
ples of equal employment opportunity law.8 If that is the case,

the assurance of focused advocacy essential to the effective
presentation of issues is wanting, the precedential value of the
opinion is problematic, and vacatuer may be appropriate.e

The core problem with the Piscataway case was that Ms.
Williams, the Black teacher who was the "beneficiary" of af-
firmative action, was not represented. If she had been repre-
sented, these two "crucial facts" could have been contested,
and adjudicated by the District Court. While Ms. Williams
had a right to intervene, it would have been ungracious and
apparently unnecessary since the Board appeared to be pro-

6. The details are discussed in infra Part II.
7. The details are discussed in infra Part III.
8. An employer may take race or sex into account in making personnel

decisions if there is a "manifest imbalance" between its labor force and the
available pool of qualified minorities/females. See United Steelworkers v.
Weber, 443 U.S. 1.93,197 (1,979); see also Johnson v. Tiansportation Agency,
Santa Clara County, 480 U.S. 61,6,632-33 (1987). That "manifest imbalance"
suggests that the employer may have engaged in unfair recruitment and hir-
ing practices. Affirmative action allows employers the leeway to correct the
situation without admitting or being found to have discriminated. See, e.g.,
EEOC Guidelines on Affirmative Action, 29 C.F.R. $1608.1(c) (1998). Af-
firmative action may be used to correct a "manifest [racial or sex] imbal
ance," but not to "maintain" racial balance. ,lee Weber, 443 U.S. al2O8; See
a/so Johnson, 480 U.S. at 641-42. Thus, the right to take affirmative action
turns on the extent to which the employer is underutilizing minority/female
workers.

9. Further discussion of this point appears in infra Part V. In a related
context, the Supreme Court has been cautious in granting certiorari in sensi-
tive civil rights cases in the absence of a genuine dispute. See, e.9., Texas v.
Hopwood, 518 U.S. 1033, 1033 (1996) (explaining the unanimous denial of
certiorari that "[w]e must await a final judgment on a program genuinely in
controversy before addressing the important question raised in the petition")
(emphasis added).
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tecting her interests. But the employer who "protected" her
had its own agenda. In fact, the Board had no interest in es-
tablishing its possible prior discrimination. The result - com-
mon in "reverse discrimination" cases - was that her interests
and the public concern for equal employment opportunity
were not fully presented to the District Court.10

Instead, the facts established in the stipulation between the
Board and the Department of Justice eliminated any claim
that the employer was entitled to take afflrmative action to
address the effects of its own hiring practices. Both the trial
court decision, and the Court of Appeals affirmance were
based on the stipulation. Had the federal agencies identified
the "manifest imbalance" between the Board's employment of
minorities and the available qualified labor force, they might
have recognized the justice in allowing afflrmative action in
Ms. Williams' situation and refrained from instituting the liti-
gation in the first instance.ll

The initial responsibility for identifying the possibility that
affirmative action was appropriate because of the School

L0. See Weber,443 U.S. at 209 (Blackmun, J., concurring); Alfred W.
Blumrosen, Modern Law: The Larv Tiansmission System and Equal Employ-
ment Opportttnity 223-24 (1993) [hereinafter Modern Law]:

Weber was interested in proving that there had been discrimination
against whites, not blacks, and neither Kaiser [the employer] nor
the Steelworkers [unionl wished 1o establish that they had discrimi-
nated against blacks. Such a showing would have opened them to
direct discrimination suits by blacks. They defended the training
program on the grounds that they were helping to address
problems of "societal discrimination," not that they were correcting
their own past misdeeds. As a consequence, no one argued that the
pian was justified by prior discrimination against blacks. Webcr,
Kaiser and the union were the oniy parties to the litigation. They
controlled the evidence which would be introduced. Party control
over the evidence is an integral parl of the common law process.
This means . . . that the facts and arguments relating to a public
interesl may not be presented unless one of the parties finds it ad-
vantageous to do so.

Id. For a discussion of the same issue as it appeared in the wake of Regents
of the [Jniversity of California v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265 (1978), see Emma
Coleman Jones, Litigation Without Representation: The Need for Intervention
to Affirm Affirmative Action, L4 H.tnv. C.R.-C.L. Rev.31 (1979) [hereinaf-
ler Litigation Without Repres entation I.

11. The details are discussed in infra Part III.
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Board's prior hiring practices rested with the EEOC. That in-
vestigation should have inquired into the adequacy of statistics
concerning the utilization of minority teaching personnel, once
the school board had acknowledged that there were no Black
teachers in the business department. The local offlce of
EEOC should have been aware that Piscataway was located
on the northern border of Middlesex County, immediately
south of major areas of minority population. Once the appro-
priateness of using Middlesex County figures to define the la-
bor market had been identified as an issue, the data described
in this paper would have sharpened the justiflcation that the
school board so hesitatingly advanced, and then abandoned, in
the initial stages of the litigation.

I. THE STIPULATION WAS NOT A RELIABLE BASIS
FOR DECISION BECAUSE MS. WLLIAMS'

WAS NOT REPRESENTED BY HER
OWN COUNSEL

Normally, stipulations are relied upon by courts because
they assure that there is no dispute concerning the facts stipu-
lated. In this case the stipulation is unreliable because no
party sought to defend the decision to retain Ms. Williams as

legitimate affirmative action to remedy a "manifest imbal-
ance" in minority employment.

A. The United States

The Department of Justice instituted this litigation during
the Bush Administration. It pursued a policy developed in the
Reagan administration that minimized the use of statistics in
discrimination cases and rejected the concept of "disparate im-
pact" with its concomitant justification for affirmative action.12

L2. See U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Legal Policy, Redefining
Discrimination: Disparate Impact and the Institutionalization of Affirmative
Action (1987). The Reagan Justice Department's view was that Title VII
protected only identified individual victims of invidious discrimination. This
view was rejected by the Supreme Court in the 80's. See Modern Law, supra
note 10, at 274-76. The policy developed in the Reagan Administration
(1981-1989) was not changed during the Bush Administration of 1989-1993,
when the litigation in Taxman was initiated.
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Apparently, it was not concerned with the racial implications
of ignoring the minority teaching force north of Piscataway
when calculating the available labor force. Once the stipula-
tion had been entered, the Department of Justice had deep
institutional interests in maintaining its integrity. Therefore it
would have hesitated to challenge the stipulation in Taxman
even after the Department changed its policy on the merits.13

B. The Piscataway Board of Education

The Board insisted that it had not intentionally discrimi-
nated against Blacks.la With respect to "disparate impact" dis-
crimination, its position was uncertain. Initially, it appeared to
claim that it took afflrmative action to remedy its under-
representation of Black business teachers.ls

13. This change took place during the first Clinton Administration. Presi-
dent Clinton took office on January 20, \993. The Stipulation of Facts was
entered into on May 7 ,1993. See IA 136a. The District Court entered judg-
ment on Sept. 13, 1993. See JA 10a. The case was appealed to the Third
Circuit. President Clinton's first appointee as Assistant Attorney General
for civil rights, Deval L. Patrick, was confirmed in the spring of 1994. There-
after, while the case was pending in the Court of Appeals, the Department
sought leave to file a brief opposing Ms. Taxman's claim. That motion was

denied. The Third Circuit treated the oral argument on that motion as a
motion to withdraw which it granted on Nov. 17,1995. See United States v.
Board of Educ., No. 94-5090, 94-5112, 1995 WL 104036 (3d Cir. Nov. 17,

lees).
74. See Interrogatory 7, "Q: Do you contend that prior to May 22, 1989,

the Defendant . . . discriminated against any employee or applicant for . . .

the position of teacher . . . or engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimina-
tion in employment . . . on the basis of race . . . ?" JA 83a; "A: The Board
does not contend that i1 ever engaged in any conduct which would have re-
sulted in a finding of 'disparate treatment' . . . . [t]he Board is presently
analyzing whether, as a hypothetical proposition, its pasl practices could
have justified a finding of a prima facie case of "disparate impact." JA 94a.

L5. See Interrogatory 58, "Q: Do you contend that Defendant's termina-
tion of Sharon Taxman from employment in 1989 was based upon facts or
information . . . which showed that blacks were then underrepresented or
underutilized in Defendants full-time teacher workforce?" JA 116a; "A:
Yes." JA L26a; see also Interrogatory 59, "Q: If your answer to Interro-
gatory No. 58 is affirmative . . . Set forth . . . all such facts and information
upon which Defendant reiies in support of any such contention . . . ." JA
1.1.6a; "A: Debra Williams was the only black instructor in the Piscataway
High School Business Education Department at that time, and for as far
back in time as defendant can presently recail. Her termination would have
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It would have been awkward for the Board to maintain that
position because it had advised State authorities twice in the
preceding 13 years that it did not "underutilize" Black teach-
ers.16 The Board abandoned the "underutilization" justiflca-
tion when it stipulated that "diversity" was its sole reason for
retaining Ms. Williams.lT

C. The Individual Plaintiff

Ms. Taxman was seeking to prove that she had been discrim-
inated against on the grounds of race. She had no interest in
showing that Blacks had been discriminated against, for that
might have provided a justification for her layoff.18

D. The Beneficiary Who Wasn't There

Ms. Williams - the Black teacher who had been retained -was not a party to the case. Like most beneflciaries of affirma-
tive action, she assumed that the employer would defend its
decision in litigation. She was the only party who had an inter-
est in showing past underutilization of minorities as a justifica-
tion for her retention.

The record filed in the Supreme Court discloses the thin
quality of the stipulation on the two crucial facts in the case. It
makes clear that there were serious and disputable facts that,
in absence of the stipulation would have forced consideration
of a different and well recognized justification for affirmative

resulted in no minority instructors in that department." JA 126a; Interro-
gatory 60, "Q: Do you contend that Defendant terminated the employment
of Sharon Thxman in 1989 in an effort to eliminate a manifest racial imbal-
ance in a traditionally segregated job category in Defendant's workforce?"
JA 116a; "A: Defendant contends that there was an underrepresentation of
black instructors in business education, compared with their presence in the
teaching profession in general." JA 126a.

1,6. See supra note 2; see also infra notes 1,9,21, and 22.
17. The "diversity" justification for minority student programs in higher

education gained popularity after Justice Powell's opinion rn Regents of the
Univ. of Cal. v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265 (1978).

18. Although the Department of Justice had initiated the litigation, it was
concluded in the Court of Appeals and briefed in the Supreme Court by Ms.
Taxman who had intervened in the District Court. Ms. Taxman was not a
party to the stipulation.
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action. We now examine the evidence concerning these two
crucial facts.

II. A "MANIFEST IMBALANCE" EXISTED IN THE,
EMPLOYMENT OF BLACK TEACHERS IN

PIS CATAWAY THAT JUSTIFIED
AFFIRMATIVE ACTIOb{19

In1976 and 1985, the Board filed statistics with the NJ State
Department of Education establishing that it employed a

higher proportion of minorities than were in the relevant labor
force and therefore had no reason to establish a goal for
recruiting Black teachers.20 It could make this claim only be-
cause of its dubious choice of the "relevant labor market."
Each time the Board reported its employment statistics, it
used a different analysis and different numbers. But the re-
ports remained constant in their omission of any reference to
Union and Essex Counties immediately to the north of
Piscataway.

1,9. See supra note 8.

20. In its Affirmative Action Program, Statement of Analysis, the Board
reported that, for minorities in the professional category:

Piscataway has7ok of the labor force as compared to 9/10 otl% lof
the labor force in Middlesex / Somerset Counties] and 10% of the
labor force by job category [professionals] as compared to 5% for
the [Middlesex / Somerset Counly] labor market area . . Thus it
can be seen that the Piscalaway School District exceeds the labor
force area in all categories for Minorities except Office and Clerical
where the District lags by only two-tenths of one percent.

JA21la. These comparisons are between the Board utilization in the second
and third columns. See Lodging Appendix at JA 21la [hereinafter LA JA]
(The Joint Appendix printed and flled by the parties in the Supreme Court
(JA) made refcrence to a document entitled "Lodging Appendix," consisting
of several documents containing statistics that constitute the comparisons
that are discussed in the printed brief). These figures compare the Board
utilization with the population and labor force of Middlesex and Somerset
Counties. The Board used state wide statistics to describe minorities as a
percent of the labor force, and as a percent of "professionals," but these
numbers did not affect the utilization comparisons. The use of general labor
force or population statistics as comparators for a job which requires cduca-
tion and skill is not acceptabie. See Hazelwood Sch. Dis. v. United States,
433 U.S. 299,308-1,2 (1976). Ilazelwood was decided the year after the sta-
tistics were submitted.
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In 1,976, the Board compared the entire teaching staff of the
school district with the population and total employment of
"professionals" in Middlesex and Somerset Counties.2l The
result of that comparison was that the Board's employment of
7o/" minority professionals exceeded the 5o/" in the labor mar-
ket and the .9/10th of 1%o in the minority population.22

In 1985, the Board reached the same conclusion by a differ-
ent analysis. It compared the entire teaching staff of the
school district in the category of "Educational Professionals,"
with the teaching staff and administrators of all schools in Mid-
dlesex County.23 Blacks constituted 5.8% of the "educational
professionals" employed in the County. Piscataway employed
9.5Y" Black educational professionals (47 ottt of 447), well
above the average. The proportion of Black teachers in the
high school, 8.75"/" (14 of 160) was also above the 5.8% of
Black educational professionals in the County.2a These
"good" statistics flow only from the Board's decision to com-

21. Somerset County lies west northwest of Middlesex. It is more rural,
more lightly populated with minorities with a smaller proportion of minority
teachers than Middlesex. See LA JA 21,7a. Inchding Somerset County may
have reduced the availability flgures for Black teachers in the 1976 report.
In 1985, Somerset County Black teachers constituted 3o/" of its full time
teachers, while Middlesex County had 4.1,%. See LA JA 150a. For 1988,
Somerset had3.2"/o while Middlesex had 4.2Yo. See id.

22. See supra note 20; see also JA 60, Stipulation 55-57.
23. In1.985, the Board filed another report reaching the same conclusion.

This report compared the utilization of Black "educational professionals" by
the Board with statistics relating to Middlesex County alone. See LA JA
100a. Administrators were said to account for 10% of the persons in the
category of "educational professionals." The statistics concerning fuIl time
teachers did not distinguish between elementary and secondary school
teachers. See LA JA 100a; see also JA62a-63a, Stipulations 68-71. The State
Department of Education flgures for Middlesex County for 1995, showed
that Whites constituted 93.7o/o and Blacks 4.lYo of full time teaching person-
nel. See LA JA 150a, Table 1,A. Middlesexhad243 Black and 5,570 White
teachers of a total of 5,942. Blacks constituted 4.08%. See id. The business
department alone contained only ten employees, including Ms. Williams and
Ms. Thxman. The business department was part of the high school teaching
staff in which Blacks constituted too few employees to provide a formal jus-
tification for affirmative action either under the "statistical significance"
standard or the "eighty percent" rule of the Uniform Guidelines on Em-
pioyee Selection Procedures. See generally 29 C.F.R $1607 (1998).

24. The Board had not reported any later figures when it made the deci-
sion in 1989 to lay ofl Ms. Thxman. State Department of Educalion statistics
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pare its employment pattern with that of Middlesex County
alone. That decision distorted the relevant labor market.

Piscataway is located on the northern border of Middlesex
County. The southern boundary of Middlesex County is more
than 25 miles south of Piscataway. Had Board officials
"looked north" that same 25 miles, they would have encom-
passed Union County, the major cities of Elizabeth and Plain-
field, and most of Essex County, including Newark and its
suburbs. This area lies within easy commuting distance of Pis-
cataway. In 1985, 11,.5% of the school teachers in Union
county were Black while in Essex county the percentage was

30.9"/". Black teachers accounted for 17.5o/" of all teachers in
Middlesex, Union and Essex Counties.2s

The 9.5"/" of black "educational professionals" and the 8.5%
Black high school teaching staff in the Piscataway schools is
half that of the proportion of Black teachers in the three coun-
ties taken together. This difference could constitute the "man-
ifest imbalance" that would justify afflrmative action. When
statistics concerning secondary school teachers in the three
counties are examined separately, they yield similar evidence
of imbalance.26 lf minority status rather than race is used to
characterized the teaching staff and labor market, the disparity
is greatly increased. In its 1985 plan, the Board stated it was

by county for September, 1988, show little changc from 1985. See LA JA
150a, Tablc lX tor 1988.

25. The combined totals from the three counties are biack teachers-3250,
white teachers-14,726, total teachers 18,568. See id.

26. For 1980 and 1990, the percentage and number of black secondary
school teachers by county was:

Combined percentages for three counties
1980 1990 1980 1990

Middlesex
Union
Essex

45% (126) 5.4"/, (93) 11% 16.40/"

8.0% (174) 6.9v, (71)

r8.s% (600) 30.2% (s80)

Id. If the 1990 statistics for Somerset County (51 of 1230 or 3.2"/") are added,
the combined pcrcentage for the four counties isl'4"h. See U.S. CnNsus or'
Popur-arroN eNo HousrNc, Dera ron Arl.rnvertvr, AgrroN Pnocn-e'vs,
Teeul 2. This is markedly higher than the 8.5% Black secondary school
leachers in Piscataway, and may constitute a "manifest tmbalance." See id.
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underutilizing Hispanic teachers to such an extent that it es-
tablished a goal for increasing their employment.

What o'non racial" justification could there be for the Board
to define its labor market by looking only to the south?27 The
county lines are used for the purpose of creating manageable
and useful statistics, but do not track the labor market.28
Under normal circumstances, when dealing with a commuting
labor force, the practicalities of transportation are important
in defining the labor market. Tiansportation by car to Piscat-
away appears to be easier from the north than from southern
Middlesex. Piscataway is on US Frt.287, giving easy access to
both the New Jersey Turnpike and the Garden State Parkway,
which traverse the densely populated areas of northern New
Jersey. In 1990,50,000 employees commuted between Middle-
sex and Union Counties, 24,000 employees commuted be-
tween Middlesex and Essex Counties and 46,000 employees
commuted between Middlesex and Somerset Counties.2e The
restriction of the labor market to Middlesex County was tilted
against minority employment opportunity.3o

21 . 'fhis question is particularly relevant since the Board's Affirmative
Action Program promised to "make a good faith effort to utilize those
sources which will contribute to substantially increasing the representation
of women and minorities in the aforesaid positions." JA 209a. In 7976, it
had relied on statistics that included Somerset County to the north west, but
it never used statistics of the counties to the north. See supra note 2I.

28. See Barbara Lindemann & Paul Grossman, Employment Discrimina-
tion Law 1717-24 (3d ed. 1996) [hereinafter Employment Discrimination
Lawl.

29. See N.J. Dep't, Area Labor Force Statistics (1990).
30. See generally Alfred W. Blumrosen, The Duty of Fair Recruitment

Under the Civil Rights Act of 1964,22 Rurcens L. Rev. a65 (1968). The
Board may not have intended this consequence, because empioyment statis-
tics are collected by counties. But intent is not required in Title VII matters,
and in any event, the consequence is evidence of intent. A "real" trial over
the issue of appropriate statistics would confront additional problems, for
example, whether to combine statistics concerning blacks with those of His-
panics, which would increase the underutilization, or to look west of Piscat-
away, which might reduce the underutilization. These are matters for the
trial court. In any event, the appropriate labor market area for examination
of utilization rates under Title VII is a federal question.

Had the Board recognized the realities described in the text, it could have
argued that this "manifest imbalance" entitled them to take race into ac-
count. If the board members believed that there had been low utilization of
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There is no evidence that the state prohibited the Board
from using a labor area larger or different than Middlesex
County for comparison purposes. Stipulation No. 72 states
that the Board used the county statistics, "at the direction of
the New Jersey State Department of Education."31 The only
evidence referenced is in Stipulation 59,32 that states that the
New Jersey Department of Education had directed the Board
that in future comparisons, it was to use Middlesex County
percentages for females and minorities "if they are higher than
state percentages." This is far from an instruction to use
county statistics. Rather, it could be read as a suggestion to
use the highest available statistics and that the State thought
Middlesex was "low balling" its statistics to avoid recognizing
a problem in its employment of minorities. Nevertheless, the
mechanical use of county statistics by the State board did per-
mit districts such as Piscataway to understate the appropriate
justifications for affirmative action. That does not alter the
Board's obligations under Federal law.

III. THE BOARD'S DECISION WAS BASED ON
AFFIRMATIVE ACTION, NOT DIVERSITY

The stipulation stated that the reason for retaining Williams
and terminating Taxman was the desirability of maintaining di-
versity in the faculty. There was no Board Policy concerning
diversity. The Board Policy under which Williams was re-
tained dealt with affirmative action in employment.

minorities, but also considered teachers as role models, or symbols of an
integrated society, then the case involves the Price Waterhouse analysis of
"mixed motives," in which both legitimate and illegitimate considerations
are considered. If the Board showed that it would have made the same deci-
sion if it had acted on legitimate considerations alone, it would have won the
case. See, e.9., Pice Waterhouse v. Hopkins,490 U.S.228 (1989). This rulc
was changed by Congress in 1991. The new statuiory rule in such cases is
that plaintiff wins, but cannot recover back pay, damages or reinstatement.
See 42U.5.C. $$ 2000e-2(m), 2000c-5(g)(2)(B) (1994). The new rule is not
retroactive. See generally Landgraf v. USI Film Prods., 511 U.S. 244 (1.99a);
Rivers v. Roadway Express, Inc., 511 U.S. 298 (1994).

31. JA 63a.

32. Id.

JJI
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In L976 and again in 1985, the Board reported statistics
showing that it had "enough" Black teachers so that it did not
need to adopt a "goal" to increase their number.33 It never set
a goal with respect to Black teachers. In 1975, the Board
adopted an affirmative action plan (AAP) pursuant to a State
requirement. The AAP was expressly designed to assure fair-
ness in hiring and promotion of minority and female teach-
ers.3a The Board never applied the plan to a personnel action
prior to the Taxman-Williams situation.35 The plan does not

33. See supra notes 20 and 23.
34. Statement of Purpose . . . The basic purpose of the program is

to make a concerted effort to attract women candidates for admin-
istrative and supervisory positions and minority personnel for all
positions so that their qualifications can be evaluated along with
other candidates. In all cases, the most qualified candidate will be
recommended for appointment. However, when candidates appear
to be of equal qualifications, candidates meeting the criteria of the
affirmative action program will be recommended.

JA 208a; JA 209a, General Purpose 5, "The School System will review the
sources from which applicants are derived and will make a good faith effort
to utilize those sources which will contribute to substantially increasing the
representation of women and minorities in the aforesaid positions;" The Af-
firmative Action Program/Employment Practices/Overview, stated:

1. Afflrmative action covers all positions;
2. Opportunities for staff members for promotion;
3. Posting oI vacancies:
4. Requests that applicants file written applications;
5. Maintenance of affirmative action file so female applicants may

be considered.
6. Encouragement of female staff to apply for administrative

positions;
7. Encouragement of minority and female education for higher

positions;
8. Equal application of requirements to men and women.

IA 21.4a-216a.
In 1975, when the AAP was adopted, Title VII's "disparate impact" doc-

trine was sufficient justiflcation for afflrmative action by governmental bod-
ies. See generally Carter v. Gailagher, 452 F.zd 315 (Sth Cir. 1971). The
Supreme Court had not yet decided that the 14th Amendment required
proof of intent to discriminate. That standard was announced in 1976 in
Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. 229 (1976).

35. See Certification of the Board Presidenl T. H. Kruse: "When we were
confronted with this issue in May 1989, it was the first time I can recall that
the Board itself was ever given a choicc of considering race as a factor, to
any extent, in making a specilic personnel decision." JA1.94a; Deposition of
Board Member Paula Van Riper: "Q: Do you recall any instance in which a
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use the term "diversity." In contrast, a separate section of the
plan concerning students did use the term diversity, but that
section does not mention faculty diversity. This difference
makes clear that the Board was aware of the diversity issue
and did not use the term "diversity" in connection with faculty
employment. The affirmative action plan was not designed to
address diversity in the teaching staff.

The Board took the choice between Ms. Taxman and Ms.
Williams seriously. It discussed the issue at two meetings.
"There was a discussion of the desire to have a diverse teach-
ing staff in the school district, and that discussion took place in
conjunction with the fact that the superintendent pointed out
that Mrs. Williams was the first and only black teaching staff
member in the business department."36

The Board laid off two other teachers at the same time they
laid off Ms. Taxman. One of those teachers was white, the
other is listed as Cuban.37 If they had laid off Ms. Williams,
two thirds of the people released at that time would have been
"minorities." At the meetings, board members discussed the
fact that if Ms. Williams were let go, the business department
would again be all white.38 The Board also considered the ra-
cial composition of the teaching staff. They were generally
aware that only eight percent (14 of 160) of the high school
teachers were black and that the District had advised the State
that they employed so few Hispanic teachers that they had es-

tablished a goal to increase their numbers.3e The Board mem-

personnel decision was being made, the hiring, transfer, termination of a

teacher, other than the Thxman incident, in which the raciai or ethnic or
gender composition of that individual's grade or department was a factor in
the decision?" JA 132a; "A: No." 1d.

36. See Deposition of Gordon Moore, JA 140a.
37. See Board's response to EEOC questionnaire, JA 77a.
38. See supra nole 34.
39. Deposition of Board Member Paula Van Riper: "Q: Has at any time

there been a specific report, verbal or written, to the board giving a break-
down of the teaching staff by department, by grade, by school?" JA 132a;

A: I could only say that I have vaguely been aware that there were
documents presented to me during my life on the school board that
would detail percentages of the various minority groups in our
school district generally, we have that by student; I don't remember
anything being specificaily broken down by department. Maybe by
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bers may not have known the exact numbers of minority
teachers as compared to Whites, but a layoff of two minority
teachers would be visible. It would constitute I5"h of the 16

minority teachers in the high school.ao

The Board's actions were consistent with its knowledge.
Faced with two equally qualified and equally senior teachers,
the Board decided to "give consideration to the person that
fell within the affirmative action policy."41 This policy, as has

been noted, related to employment opportunity, not diversity
for educational values.o' It wrote to Ms. Thxman explaining
that its decision was based on the affirmative action policy.

Dear Ms. Taxman: . . . the board of education has decided
to rely on its commitment to affirmative action as a means
of breaking the tie in seniority entitlement in the secretarial
studies category. As a result, the board . . . acted to abolish
one teaching position and to terminate your employment as

a teaching staff member effcctive June 30, L989.43

That policy was based on assuring equal employment oppor-
tunity. It does not address diversity.44

general school, maybe, or something. But certainly I don't remem-
ber anything specifically by department.

Id.; lnterrogatory 7, "Q: Do you contend that prior to May 22, 1989, the
Defendant . . . discriminated against any employee or applicant for . . . the
position of teacher . . . or engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination
in employment . . . on the basis of race . . . ?" JA 83a;

A: The Board does not contend that it ever engaged in any con-
duct which would have resulted in a flnding of "disparate treat-
ment" The Board is presently analyzing whether, as a
hypothetical proposition, its past practices could have justified a
finding of a prima facie case of "disparate impact."

JA 94a.
40. After the Cuban teacher was released, there may have been one His-

panic teacher remaining in the high school. Respondent's brief asserts that at
the time Wiliiams was retained, the high school had 14 African-American,2
Hispanic and one Asian American teacher. See Brtef for Respondent at n.3,
Taxman, No. 96-679, 1997 WL 626853 (U.S. Oct. 9,1991).

41. Deposition of Board Member Paula Van Riper: "Regardless of the
names of the people involved we were basing it . . . on two individuals and of
similar seniority, similar ability, whether one was - we were giving the con-
sideration to the person that fell into the afflrmative action policy, in this
case it was a black woman." JA 70a.

42. See supra nore 30.
43. See JA 153a.
44. This discrepancy was noted in McGinley, supra note 1, at205-92.
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The evidence that "diversity" was the sole ground of the de-
cision comes from a "certiflcation" by the Board President. In
Mr. Kruse's deposition, he stated that it was his personal opin-
ion that the values of "diversity" had justif,ed the decision to
retain Ms. Williams.as In a subsequent "certification," pre-
pared because of the United States attorney's view that his
deposition "does not establish that we were attempting to
achieve diversity," the President stated that this was his posi-
tion and that "of those Board members who chose to express
themselves in our deliberations."46 This is the only evidence
linking his views to those of the other Board members.

They made a practical judgment that reflected their concern
about the low number of minority teachers.aT The Board ex-
plained to Ms. Taxman that the decision was made in pursu-
ance of an affirmative action policy that related to equal
employment opporLunity.

45. See Deposition of Theodore H. Kruse: "Q: In what way did retaining
Mrs. Williams rather than Mrs. Taxman further any educational objective for
the Piscataway Board of E,ducation?" JA 19la;

A. In my own personal perspective I believe by retaining Mrs. Wil-
liams it was sending a very clear message that we feel that our
staff should be culturally diverse, our student population is cul-
turally diverse and there is a distinct advantage to students, to
ali students, to be made-come into contact with people of dif-
ferent cultures, different background, so that they are more
aware, more tolerant. more accepting, more understanding of
peoplc of all background.

Id, (emphasis added).
46. JA 194a, II 3; JA 194a, !{ 4 where he also restated his personal

position:
Based on my experience as a university professor and a long-time
Piscataway Township Board oI Education member, I had come to
the conclusion by May 1989 that a racially and culturally diverse
faculty and student body promoted a more enriching educational
environment for students. During my tenurc on the Board begin-
ning in approximately 1983, we have taken various steps in the
School District in furtherance of that goal. As an educalor and
school board member, I see this objective as distinct from fostering
equitable labor relations; the lormer is for the students' benefit, the
latter for employees'.

Id.(emphasis added).
47. Analytically, the issue is similar to the subjective judgment issue in

Watson v. Fort Worth Bank & Trtrsl,487 U.S. 97'7 (1988).
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After the Justice Department filed suit, the Board's first af-
firmative defense was that the decision was based on "lawful
affirmative action."as The second was that the actions were
taken "pursuant to policies and administrative regulations of
the State of New Jersey."ae It contended that race became a
decisive factor only because factors of qualifications and sen-
iority were equal.so

Additionally, it reserved the right to assert that the decision
had been made because there was underutilization of minori-
ties in the school system.sl At that point, the issues were simi-

48. See JA 42a; Interrogatory 1, "Q: Set forlh . . . all facts . . . upon which
Defendant relies to assert that the actions undertaken by Defendant . . .

were pursuant to a lawful affirmative action policy." JA 82a; "A: At the
time . . . the Board had a standing Policy 4111.1 Affirmative Action/Employ-
ment Practices, which had been accepted and approved by the New Jersey
Department of Labor . . . ." JA 93a. The complaint appears at JA 38a. Ms.
Thxman's possible action under 42 U.S.C. $ 1983 was barred by the statute of
limitations. See Taxman,91 F.3d at 1552 n.5.

49. See JA 43a: Interrogatory 4, "Q: Set forth . . . all facts . . . upon which
Defendant relies to assert . . . that the actions taken . . were pursuant to
policies and administrative regulations of the New Jersey Department of La-
bor." JA 83a; "A: The Board contends that its action was consistent with its
Affirmative Action/Employment Practices Policy, which had been submitted
for review and approval by the New Jersey Department oI Education, con-
sistent with that agency's Affirmative Action/Equal Employment Opportu-
nity Guidelines . . . ." JA 93a.

50. "Only after the candidates' seniority and qualiflcations were deter-
mined to be equal did the candidates' race become a factor." JA 137a. Ap-
plying the statute and the Administrative Code, it was determined that
Sharon Taxman and Debra Williams were tied in seniority. It, therefore,
became incumbent upon the Board to determine a method of selecting one
of the two teachers tied in seniority who would be subject to the reduction in
force. ln making this determination, the Board of Education decided to rely
on its own policy Affirmative Action/Employment Practices 4171.1. Because
Debra Williams is Black and meets thc criteria of the local Affirmative Ac-
tion program, the Board of Education decided to continue her employment
and terminate the employment of Sharon Taxman. The Board believed that
the two individuals were comparably qualified within the meaning of the
policy, and took particular note of the fact that Debra Williams was the only
Black teacher in the Business Department of the High School. See JA 92a;
see also Answer to Interrogatory 1, JA 82a. (requesting each and every basis
or reason for the decision to terminate Ms. Taxman) (emphasis added).

51. See Interrogatory 15, "Q: Do you contend that blacks were under
represented in Defendant's full-time teacher workforce when Defendant
adopted its Affirmative Action Program Employment Practices Addendum
dated January 1985?" JA 85a; "A: This answer will be supplied after a re-
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lar to the competition between Mr. Johnson and Ms. Joyce
concerning a promotion in lohnson.s2 There, the Supreme
Court held that a "manifest imbalance" by sex justified the
employer in taking sex into account in a similarly close case.

As rn lohnson, the afflrmative action in Taxman was taken in a
"traditionally segregated job category." Ms. Williams was the
first and only black teacher in the business department.

The evidence that affirmative action in relation to employ-
ment opportunity motivated the Board is compelling. It in-
cludes the language of the afflrmative action plan, the public
statement of the Board at the time of the decision and the dis-
cussion at Board meetings about the numbers of Black faculty.

IV. THE, ISSUE, OF INFORMAL
AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

This informal but informed choice between two equivalent
candidates by an employer with few minority employees in the
job category is an example of decisions that have been made
thousands of times, over the past twenty flve years that have
contributed to improved employment opportunity for minori-
ties and women.s3 Essentially, affirmative action takes place
when employers confronted with a "close case" decide to se-

lect the woman or minority. That is what happened in
Piscataway.

view and analysis of data believed to be in the files . . . relating to representa-
tion of blacks in defendant's full time teaching work force." JA 95a;
Interrogatory 17, "Q: Do you contend that blacks were underrepresented in
Defendant's full time teacher workforce . . . when Defendant determined to
terminate . . . Mrs. Sharon Taxman . . . ?" JA 86a;

A: Reports filed with the New Jersey Department of Education . . .

indicate that the representation of Blacks serving as instructional
personnel and educational services in nonsupervisory capacities ex-
ceeded the percentage of Blacks residing in Middlesex County.
However, the Board contends that there was an under-
representation of [B]lacks in the High School Business Education
Department when compared with the relevant labor pool.

JA 95a.

52. See generally Johnson v. Transportation Agency, Santa Clara Cnty.,
480 U.S. 616 (1987).

53. See MopenN Lrw, supra note 10, ar 289-311.
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The real issue in the case - before the stipulation converted
it into a question of "diversity"- was whether an employer
may take affirmative action in a specific situation, pursuant to
a general policy that supports equal employment opportunity,
but, that contains no specific "goal", when statistics show a
"manifest imbalance" from the qualified available labor force
sufficient to suggest that its recruitment and hiring practices
had limited opportunities of minorities/women as compared to
Whites/males.

Such informal affirmative action is not unlawful because the
plan lacks speciflcity. In fact, affirmative action plans that in-
clude specific goals may raise questions of legality because

they may imply that persons will be hired to "meet a quota."
A plan without a specific goal does not raise these concerns; it
does not create a risk that the employer will use race in a

mechanical manner in every personnel decision. Therefore, it
should be /ess objectionable than a plan that appears to apply
to every personnel decision.sa The Piscataway Board never
applied the plan to any personnel decision until it was con-
fronted with the Taxman-Williams situation.ss

What are the permissible parameters of such informal af-
firmative action? The Supreme Court has not faced this ques-

54. Strangely, the Majority in the Piscataway case seemed to favor a plan
that contained specific goals, see Taxman, 91 F.3d at 1'547 n.15, but then
condemns Piscataway because its plan was not stated to be "temporary" Id.
While the plan itself may have been general, the "goals and timetables" in-
cluded in 1985 were very specific. See LA JA 100a, Table B. This plan, like
that in lohnson, would end when the "underutilization" ended.

55. "When we were confronted with this issue in May 1989, it was the
flrst time I can recall that the Board itself was ever given a choice of consid-
ering race as a factor, to any extent, in making a specific personnel deci-
sion . . . "IA 194a; "'Q: Can you recall any employment decision, whether it
be the hiring or termination or transfer of a teacher, has occurred [sicl while
you have been a member of the school board which was based upon or in
which one of the factors considered was the racial composition of the faculty
of any given department or school or grade . other than the Taxman
case[?1" JA 133a; "A: No." Id.
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tion directly.tu It has not held that Title VII requires a specific
written plan before affirmative action may be taken.sT

As the Third Circuit pointed out in Taxman, a challenge to
affirmative action is to be processed as any other discrimina-
tion claim. The plaintiff bears the burden of proving that the
employer's claimed justification was pretextual.sS If "affirma-
tive action based on a manifest imbalance" is argued by a de-
fendant employer to be the "legitimate non discriminatory
reason" for denying an employment opportunity to a White/
male plaintiff, evidence in support of that explanation should
be admitted under the same standards as evidence of any
other asserted reason. Nothing in the jurisprudence of Title
VII suggests a sort of "statute of frauds" requirement that the
reason must be in writing.

It is necessary to protect employers from the "Catch 22" sit-
uation that faced the Board.se If they had retained Ms.
Taxman, they would have faced a discrimination claim from
Ms. Williams that was arguably stronger than that asserted by
Ms. Taxman. Ms. Williams, had she been laid off, could have
argued (1) the "inexorable zero" in the business department,
(2) the "manifest imbalance" in the High School and in the
School District, compared to a reasonable recruiting area (3)
evidence that the Board had disregarded the statistics of mi-
nority teachers in the immediate labor area to the north, thus

56. The facts of Johnson, are similar to those in Taxman. Santa Clara
County had an affirmative action pian to increase female employment that
was triggered by a complaint from a female employee in a particular situa-
tion. The plan was not applied in any automatic fashion. In Furnco Constr.
Co. v. Waters,438 U.S. 567 (1978), the Court held that evidence of an affirm-
alive action program to counterbalance a racially exclusionary hiring system
was admissible on behaif of the employer as evidence that it did not harbor
discriminatory intent. See also Connecticut v. Teal, 457 U.S. 440 (1983)
(holding thal such evidence did not affect disparate impact liability). For a
criticism of Teal, see MoosnN Llrw, supra note 10, at 116.

57. The EEOC Guidelines on Affirmative Action do not require that the
plan be in writing, but afford "safe harbor" protection of 713(b) of Title VII
only to written plans and suggests that an employer gains credibility if its
plan is in writing. See 29 C.E.R. $1608.4(d).

58. See Taxman,91 F.3d at 1156.

59. See United Steelworkers v. Weber, 443 U.S. 793,209-10 (Blackmun,
J., concurring).
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denying that they were underutilizing Black teachers, and (4)
that the Board had opposed school integration only seventeen
years earlier.60 Cumulating these factors, she could have ar-
gued that the Board had knowingly resegregated a tradition-
ally White job category.

An employer in this situation should not be forced to litigate
what ever choice it makes when it chooses between equiva-
lently qualifled white/males and minorities/females. This situ-
ation will become increasingly common as qualified minorities
and women come into the labor market. They will inevitably
compete with Whites and males.61 A rule of law that exposes
employers to liability every time they choose a minority or wo-
man between equivalently qualified persons would discourage
employers from hiring minorities or women to avoid the risks
of litigation whenever there was competition with whites/
males. This result would be directly contrary to the purposes
of Title VII. Therefore, the lawfulness of informal affirmative
action should depend on the record of the employer in relation
to the qualified labor force.62

60. See Piscataway Township Bd. of Educ. v. Burke, 386 A.2d 439 (N.J.
Sup. Ct. App. Div. t978), appeal dismissed,401 A.zd 230 (N.J. 1978). Board
opposed an order of the Commissioner of Education requiring it to adopt a
policy on equal educational opportunity and school desegregation; approve a
desegregation plan to correct racial imbalance in three schools; and adopt a
program to prcvent further racial imbalance. The challenge was based on
the 14th amendment to the federal constitution. The challenge was
dismissed.

61,. See Alfred W. Blumrosen, IIow the Courts Are Handling Reverse
Discrimination Claims, Bureau of National Affairs, Darly Leeon Reronr,
Mar. 23, \999, at E-7. Populations shift contribute to increased minority
competition for traditionally segregated jobs. See id. Between 1980 and
1990, the white population of Middlesex County increased bt" 3o/o, or 16,000
while the Black population increased by 50"h or 18,000 people. See id. In
Piscataway, the changes were White-decrease of 60/o or 2,000 people;
Black-increase of 34"/o or 2,000 people. See id.

62. See MonsnN Law, supra note 10, at245-46:
Government regulators tend to deal with large institutions which
engage regularly in planning, including the planning of their indus-
trial relations systems. Therefore, il was natural for the EEOC to
build the faffirmative action] guidelines around the concept of
planned affirmative action. . . . This perspective was. in retrospect.
overly simplified. The "Washington myopia" of the government left
a serious gap in the guidelines.
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Employers were given such "leeway" by the Supreme Court,
in the Price Waterhouse "mixed motive" case.63 That same
breathing space should be available in the situation presented
in the Taxman case. This is especially important as we enter
an era where "qualifications" become more subjective, and
where differences between "qualified" individuals are difficult
to identify.6a

V. THE PRECEDE,NTIAL EFFECT OF THE THIRD
CIRCUIT OPINION

We have concluded that none of the parties in Taxman had
an interest in identifying the underutilization of minority
teachers or the "real" reason for the retention of Ms. Williams.
The result is an opinion that is not rooted in the facts of the
case. This uncomfortable situation is likely to arise whenever
an employer is sued for "reverse discrimination."6s The em-

Id.
63. See Alfred W. Blumrosen, Society in Transition II; Price Waterhouse

and the Individual Employment Discrimination Case,42 Rurcsns L. Rsv.
7023,1031-33 (1990).

64. The option of a coin flip that had been used in Piscataway to resolve
non-racial ties, may not protect an employer from liability to the losing em-
pioyec who claims she was denied the job because of her race. Even an
honest coin flip does not pass the test of rationality explained in Furnco, rtor
the need to justify practices by reasons that are job relaled and consistent
with business necessity. See generally Furnco,438 U.S. at 567.

65. A related standing issue was raised in Hopwood v. Texas,78F.3d932
(5th Cir.) suggestion for rehearing en banc denied, 84 F.3d 720 (5th Cir.
1996). An action challenging the constitutionality of a law school admission
program of the University of Texas. The District Court denied intervention
of Black legal and pre-law associations on grounds that the state would ade-
quateiy represent their interests because they were seeking the same results.
See id. at 959-60. This decision was affirmed on a preliminary appeal. See
id. At trial, the District Judge allowed only Amicus status to the associa-
tions, and did not permit them to present evidence that the State was consti-
tutionally required to maintain a minority student program because of its
own acts. See id. 'the Court of Appeals rejected a rencwed motion to inter-
vene on grounds that the "law of the case" had been established in its eariier
opinion. See id. T\e net result was that evidence of the prior acts of the
defendant that would have supported the minority student program was
never allowed to be presented. The experience of these cases suggests that
affirmative action defendants have interests different from the beneficiaries,
consisting primarily of sheltering their reputation from evidence of their own
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ployer will not want to admit the possibility of its past discrimi-
nation.66 In contrast, when an employer is sued by a minority
or woman, the employer has every reason to assert all relevant
"legitimate non discriminatory reasons." the questions raised
are (1) should beneficiaries of afflrmative action be considered
"necessary parties" under Federal Rule 19 in "reverse discrim-
ination" cases? (2) May the Third Circuit sua sponte vacate its
opinion in Taxman?

A. Affirmative Action Beneficiaries as Necessary Parties in
" Reverse Discrimination" Cases

The strongest - and least controversial - reason for an
employer to take affirmative action is to correct the effects of
its own past discrimination.6T If the only person who has an
interest in showing that the employer may have discriminated
against minorities or women is the "beneficiary" of affirmative
action, that issue will not be presented to the court unless he
or she is made a party.

Under Title VII, the "beneficiary" of affirmative action has
a right to intervene.6s Often, the beneficiary believes that his/
her interests will be fairly and without expense represented by

possible misconduct, whether they be private parties or the state. See Jones,
Litigation Without Representation, supra note 10.

66. See Wygant v. Jackson Bd. of Ed., 476 U.S. 267,290-92 (1986).
The imposition of a requirement that public employers make find-
ings that they have engaged in illegal discrimination before they
engage in affirmative action programs would severely undermine
public employers' incentive to meet voluntarily their civil rights ob-
ligations . . .[ P]ublic employers are trapped between the competing
hazards of liability to minorities if affirmative action is not taken to
remedy apparent employment discrimination and liability to
nonminorities if affirmative action is taken.

1d. "Where . . . those empioyers . . . acr on the basis of information which
gives them a sufficient basis for concluding that remedial action is necessary,
a contemporaneous finding requirement should not be necessary." 1d. at
290-91. The Affirmative Action Guidelines of EEOC also recognize that no
"flnding or admission of discrimination is necessary before affirmative action
can be taken." See 29 C.F.R. $ 1608.a(c) (1998).

67. See generally Local 28, Sheet Metal Workers v. EEOC, 478 U.S. 421
(1986);United States v. Paradise,480 U.S. M9 (1987);Wygant,476 U.S. at
274:29 C.F.R. $1608.3 (b).

68. See Evpr-ovrrrENr DrscntvrNarlroN Law, supra note 28, at 1717-24.
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the employer. Once the trial has ended, so has the possibility
of introducing evidence suggesting prior discrimination or a
"manifest imbalance" justifying affirmative action. For these
reasons, courts should characlerize the minority or female
beneficiaries of affirmative action as "necessary parties" under
Rule 19 in "reverse discrimination" litigation.6e A court order
to join the "beneficiary" would prevent the use of questiona-
ble stipulations, and may diminish the beneficiary's hesitance
to litigate against his or her benefactor. It will assure the op-
portunity to raise issues that an employer may prefer to leave
unstated.To Joinder is appropriate under Rule 19 because a
court decision adverse to the beneflciary, may impose multiple

69. See Fr,o. R. Crv. P. 19(a). A person may be joined as a party if:
(1) in the person's absence complete relief cannot be accorded

among those already parties, or
(2) the person claims an interest relating to the subject of the ac-

tion and is so situated that the disposition of the action in the
person's absence may
(i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect

that interest or
(ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a sub-

stantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise in-
consistent obligations by reason oI his claimed interest . . . .

Id. In Ilermes v. Hein,479 F.Supp. 820,825-26 (D. Ill. 1979), plaintiffs al-
leged political rigging of promotions of two police officers by village officials.
Defendants argued that plaintiffs should be required to join those who re-
ceived the promotions. See id. T\e court agrees. .lee ld

Under Rule 19d(a), Fed. R. Civ. P. these officers clearly have an
interest relating to the subject of the action, namely the promotions
they received, that might be jeopardized by a judgment for plain-
tiff . . . [A] judgment for plaintiffs in this suit might force the de-
fendants to demote and re-examine the two officers . . . . This
possibility would expose defendants to the risk of new iitigation.
Also, the request for an injunction ordering that the plaintiffs be
promotcd presents the defendants with the prospect of paying
double salaries or demoting the previously promoted officers.

Id.
70. The parties to a lawsuit presumably know better than anyone

else the nature and scope of relief sought in the action, and at
whose expense such relief might be granted. It makes sense, there-
fore, to place on them a burden of bringing in additional parties
where such a step is indicated. rather than placing on potential ad-
ditional parties a duty 1o intervene when they acquire knowledge of
thc lawsuit.

Martin v. Wilks, 490 U.S. 755,'765 (1989).
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liability on the employer, while leaving the beneflciary free to
litigate the same issues, at the same time as it is likely to ad-
versely affect the beneficiary in the future.71 If the courts rec-
ognize that the employer's interest and the beneflciary's
interests may be seriously diverse, and require joinder of the
beneficiaries, issues of the type that were not raised in Taxman
are more likely to be addressed on their merits. While any
party may raise the non-joinder issue, neither the "reverse dis-
crimination" plaintiff, nor the employer are likely to do so.

Courts are not helpless in this situation. "[B]oth the trial court
and the appellate court may take note of the non joinder of an
indispensable party sua sponte."72

B. May the Third Circuit Vacate its Opinion in the

Taxman Case?

Taxman now stands as Third Circuit precedent concerning
the "diversity" justification for affirmative action. It has been
cited in other jurisdictions, and is binding in the Third Circuit.
"Judicial precedents are presumptively correct and valuable to
the legal community as a whole. They are not merely the
property of private litigants and should stand unless a court
concludes that the public interest would be served by a
vacat]ur-"73

The decision in Taxman was obtained through a stipulation
that we believe to be misleading. The stipulation was subject
to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and is a

71. See Mann v. City of Albany, Georgia, 883 F.2d 999,1002 (11th Cir.
1989) (effects of non joinder on employer); Bremer v. St. Louis Southwest-
ern Ry. Co., 310 F. Supp. 1333,1339-40 (E.D. Mo. 1969) (fragmentation of
litigation).

J2. 7 C:r'ep'res Ar-eN Wnrcur & Anrnun R. Mrr-r-nn, Feosnal Pn,q.c-

rrcE AND Pnoceoune $1609 at n.26 (2d ed. 1986). The term "indispensable"
is used in the conclusionary sense as the outcome of the multi-factor analysis
required under Rule 1.9. See id. at I 1.604', see, e.g. Provident Tiadesmens
Bank & Tiust Co. v. Patterson, 390 U.S. 102, 1,11 (1968). "When neces-
sary . . . a court of appeals should, on its own initiative, take steps to protect
the absent party, who of course had no opportunity to plead and prove his
interest below." Id.

73. Intmi Seimitsu Kogyo Kabushiki Kaisha v. U.S. Phillips Corp., 510
U.S. 27, a0 $993); See also U.S. Bancorp v. Bonner Mall Partnership, 513
u.s. 18, 26 (1994).



le9el THE FLAWED FOUNDATION 345

certiflcation by both lawyers and both parties that, "after rea-
sonable inquiry, it is well grounded in fact and is warranted by
existing law or a good faith argument for the extension of ex-

isting law. . . ." Sanctions for violation of Rule 11 may be im-
posed after the action has been dismissed.Ta Rule 11 as of the
time of signing the stipulation provided that a court may act

"upon its own initiative. . ." If either the District Court or the
Court of Appeals knew of the questionable factual basis for
the stipulation, it is reasonable to assume that the court would
have investigated the matter.

If the conduct of the attorneys in entering into the stipula-
tion constituted "fraud upon the court," - an issue that we do
not address - the Court has jurisdiction and the power under
Rule 60 to set aside its judgment.T5 Under "extraordinary cir-
cumstances" the Court may vacate its opinion, even after a set-

tlement.T6 Thus, despite the settlement in Taxman after the
grant of Certiorari, the Third Circuit could, sua sponte, review
the case including the representations of the parties and their
lawyers in considering vacatur of its decision. It appears that
the parties sought a judicial decision on a hypothetical ques-

tion set forth in the stipulation.T1

'14. See Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 398 (1990).
75. See Pumphrey v. Thompson Tool Co., 62 F. 3d 1128, 1130 (9th Cir.

19es).
76. See U.S. Bancorp, 513 U.S. at 28.
77. Other issues buried in the record of the Taxman case might have sur-

faced but for the stipulation. The plaintiff had alleged that the action of the
School Board violated State Law. This allegation was put to one side by the
courts, as they focused on the federal questions. If Ms. Taxman was correct,
there arises the question of whether state law can prevent a unit of state
government lrom exercising a federal right to take affirmative action. This
issue was addressed in the California Proposition 209 case. See Coalition for
Econ. Equity v. Wiison, 122F.3d 692 (9th Cv.), cert. denied,118 S. Ct. 397
(1997). Finally, there is an underiying conflict between the Court's Title VII
jurisprudence using disparate impact to prove employment discrimination
and its Constitutional Law jurisprudence that requires proof oI intentional
discrimination by a state or local government before the 14th Amendment is

violated. The Board attcmpted to raise this issue before discovery in
Taxman, See Taxman,798 F.Supp. at 1099. The issue is whether Congress
has legitimately decided that the disparate impact doctrine is necessary to
enforce 14th Amendment rights to equal employment opportunity. The res-

olution of this issue will be shaped by the recent decision in City of Boerne v.

Flores,521 U.S. 501 (1'991).
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VI. REFLECTIONS

The temptation for judges to make broad pronouncements
on race issues reflects their central role in our culture. The
public correctly believes that there has been great improve-
ment in employment opportunities for women and minorities.
But this improvement is uneven. Some employers have done
well in implementing equal opportunity, others drag their
feet.78 Our understanding of the dynamics of affirmative ac-

tion is increasing as we begin to evaluate the experience of the
past third of a decade.Te

Under these conditions, there may be no single or simple
answer to questions about the continuation of affirmative ac-

tion. A careful evaluation of the facts in reverse discrimina-
tion cases can control the tendency to over-generalize. Finally,
issues concerning affirmative action are squarely, and prop-
erly, in the center of the political arena. This wholesome fact
should counsel caution on the part of the judiciary in making
broad pronouncements while public policy issues are being
openly deliberated by the people.

78. See MoonnN Llrw, supra note 10, at 322-25'
79. See, e.g., Wrr-lrau G. BoweN & Dsru,r Bor<, Tue Snapp oF THE

plvpp 
- LoNc Tsnv CoNseeueNcns oE CoNsrosnrNc Rnce rN Cor-r-ncn

aNo l-INrvr,nsrrv AovrsstoNs (Princeton University Press 1998); Alfred W.
Blumrosen & Ruth G. Blumrosen, The Intentional Discrimination in Em-
ployment Project - An Overview for EEOC/Diversity Managers, Daily La-
bor Report, Jan. 29, 1999, at E-1.


